

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

### European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Reproductive Biology: X

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/eurox

# Investigating the efficacy and safety of metronidazole during pregnancy; A systematic review and meta-analysis



Priscilla Ajiji<sup>a,b</sup>, Anil Uzunali<sup>a</sup>, Emmanuelle Ripoche<sup>a</sup>, Emilie Vittaz<sup>a</sup>, Thierry Vial<sup>c</sup>, Patrick Maison<sup>a,b,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Agence Nationale de Sécurité du Médicament et des Produits de santé (ANSM), France

<sup>b</sup> EA 7379, EpiDermE Faculté de Santé, Université Paris-Est Créteil, France

<sup>c</sup> Service Hospitalo-Universitaire de Pharmacotoxicologie, CHU-Lyon, Lyon, France

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 16 March 2021 Accepted 12 May 2021 Available online 14 May 2021

Keywords: Metronidazole/adverse effects Pregnancy Premature birth Congenital abnormalities

#### ABSTRACT

*Objective:* We aimed to review and analyze studies focusing on the efficacy of metronidazole in reducing the risk of preterm birth and the safety of metronidazole taking into account the different doses, duration of treatment and routes of administration.

Study designs: Embase, Cochrane Library and PubMed were searched up to 29 July 2019 to identify studies assessing metronidazole exposure during pregnancy. Additional studies were identified from reference lists of retrieved papers. Measured outcomes were preterm births (<37 weeks of gestation) and associated delivery outcomes such as spontaneous abortions ( $\leq$  20 weeks of gestation), stillbirths ( $\geq$ 20 weeks of gestation) and low birth weight (<2500 g) irrespective of the period of exposure and major malformations after first-trimester exposure. Overall effect estimates for RCTs and observational studies were calculated using the random-effects model and pooled using Risk Ratios (RR) and Odds Ratios (OR) respectively. ROB-2 and ROBINS-I tool were used to assess Risk of Bias for RCTs and observational studies, respectively.

*Results:* Twenty-four studies (17 observational studies and 7 RCTs) were selected. Pooled RR was 1.10 (95 % Cl 0.78–1.55; n = 7;  $l^2$  = 72 %) for preterm birth. Subgroup analysis found RR 1.67; 95 % Cl 1.07–2.62; n = 3;  $l^2$  = 32 %) for treatment duration of  $\leq$ 3 days among women with a previous preterm delivery. Pooled OR for spontaneous abortion was 1.72 (95 % Cl 1.40–2.12; n = 5;  $l^2$  = 72 %) and 1.15 (95 % Cl 0.98–1.34; n = 12;  $l^2$  = 25 %) for major malformations. After exclusion of studies with critical risk of bias, pooled OR were 1.7 (1.42–2.04; n = 3;  $l^2$  = 19 %) and 1.13 (0.93–1.36; n = 9;  $l^2$  = 28 %) respectively. Among several specific malformations analyzed, only congenital hydrocephaly was significantly increased at 4.06 (95 % Cl 1.75–9.42; n = 2;  $l^2$  = 0%).

*Conclusions:* Data do not confirm the efficacy of metronidazole in reducing the risk of preterm birth and associated delivery outcomes. Further research is required to confirm the effect of high dose and short duration of metronidazole treatment on preterm birth among the high-risk group. Regarding the increased odds of spontaneous abortion, RCTs are required to assess the role of the underlying infection. The need for further studies to confirm the risk of congenital hydrocephaly is paramount.

© 2021 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Methods	2
	2.1. Data sources	2
	2.2. Study selection	2
3.	Results	3
	3.1. Risk of bias assessment	4

\* Corresponding author at: Agence Nationale de Sécurité du Médicament et des Produits de santé (ANSM), 143 Boulevard Anatole France, 93200 Saint Denis, France. *E-mail address:* patrick.maison@ansm.sante.fr (P. Maison).

#### http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.eurox.2021.100128

2590-1613/© 2021 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

	3.2.	Preterm birth and associated delivery outcomes following MET exposure in utero	4
	3.3.	Preterm birth among women with a history of preterm birth	5
	3.4.	Spontaneous abortions	6
	3.5.	Stillbirths	6
	3.6.	Low birth weight	6
	3.7.	Caesarian delivery	6
	3.8.	Major congenital malformations	6
	3.9.	Specific malformations	7
1.	Discus	ssion	7
	4.1.	Preterm birth and associated delivery outcomes	7
	4.2.	Major congenital malformations	7
	4.3.	Strengths and limitations	7
	4.4.	Conclusion	8
	Financ	cial disclosures	8
	Refere	ences	8

#### 1. Introduction

Metronidazole (MET) is an imidazole derivative acting both as an antiprotozoal and anti-bacterial agent [1]. It is commonly used to treat genitourinary tract infections in pregnant women [2]. A study conducted in 2010 found a prevalence of 7.1 % of bacterial vaginosis among 14,193 pregnant women in France [3]. In the United States (US), Koumans et al found that 21 million women suffered from bacterial vaginosis between 2001 and 2004 [4]. Accordingly, MET is used to prevent preterm birth [5] in pregnant women with bacterial vaginosis or trichomoniasis.

Inconsistent data regarding the efficacy of MET but also its safety for the mother and newborn has led to conflicting guidelines on its use during pregnancy [6,7]. Randomized Controlled Trials (RCTs) have evaluated the efficacy of MET in reducing the risk of preterm birth among pregnant women with either asymptomatic [8] or symptomatic vaginosis [5], which may be coupled with either a positive fetal fibronectin test [9,10] or a previous preterm birth [11,12]. The findings give conflicting information whereby, researchers have demonstrated both reduction [5,12] or increase [8,13] in the incidence of preterm birth. Others found the risk is increased among women with a history of preterm birth [11] which is cited as the most leading risk factor [14,16].

The safety of MET treatment during pregnancy has also been evaluated, whereby some studies found an association between MET and congenital malformations [17,18] or even spontaneous abortion [19]. Two meta-analyses conducted in 1995 [20] and 1997 [21] found no association between the risk of malformations and MET exposure. Since then, several studies have been published and some indicated an increased risk of major malformations [17], congenital hydrocephaly [22] and clubfoot [23]. Safety has also been discussed with regards to low birth weight [24,25] and stillbirth [26].

Available in oral, rectal, topical, vaginal and intravenous forms [1], MET is well absorbed, with an elimination half-life of six to eight hours in healthy subjects [27]. Whereas literature documents no difference in cure rates of different doses, durations of treatment [28] and routes of administration [29], the impact of these parameters on adverse pregnancy outcomes remains controversial. Therefore, this meta-analysis aims to review and analyze studies focusing on the efficacy and safety of MET taking into account the different doses, duration of treatment and routes of administration.

#### 2. Methods

#### 2.1. Data sources

We conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis on literature citing MET treatment during pregnancy. Electronic databases searched were Embase, Pubmed and Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) up to 29 July 2019 using the keywords "metronidazole", "fetal or embryo or offspring", "adverse or risk or side or toxicity or undesirable or complication or event or outcome", and "congenital malformation or preterm or abortion or stillbirth or miscarriage or small for gestational age or growth retardation or birth weight or gestational age or birth defect or neonatal or teratogen or developmental disorders or child or neurodevelopment or cognitive or developmental disability or learning disorder or intelligence or cognition" without restrictions on language.

Other sources included: hand searching references from eligible studies, abstracts presented at conferences, communications with experts in the field of medicines and pregnancy, the International Prospective Register of Systematic Review Protocols (PROSPERO) and the Electronic Thesis Online Service (ETHOS). Corresponding authors were contacted to obtain data for publications without specific analysis when MET was studied along with other drugs.

#### 2.2. Study selection

RCTs and observational studies i.e. case-control and retrospective or prospective cohort studies citing MET use during pregnancy were considered eligible. We included observational studies with control groups which included 1) unexposed with disease 2) unexposed, disease-free 3) exposed to other treatment with disease or 4) unexposed (unspecified). Case reports, systematic reviews, meta-analysis and letters to editors or commentaries were excluded, in addition to publications with insufficient data to reconstruct two by two contingency tables, even after having contacted corresponding authors.

Exposure was determined as randomized treatment with MET for RCTs, or prescription of MET for observational studies, whatever the route of administration, dose and duration of treatment or even period of exposure.

Selected outcomes were: Preterm births due to spontaneous or indicated preterm labour (<37 weeks) and associated delivery outcomes such as spontaneous abortions (death before 20 weeks of gestation), stillbirths (death after 20 weeks), low birth weight <2500 g and caesarian delivery irrespective of the period of exposure. We also explored the risk of preterm birth among women with a history of preterm birth, as a high-risk group.

Other outcomes were major malformations after first-trimester exposure, which were defined by using the Brighton Collaboration Congenital Anomalies Working Group [30] and classified by using the European Surveillance for Congenital Anomalies [31] (EURO-CAT) criteria.

Two authors independently identified, screened and reviewed publications for eligibility thereby generating the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) [32] flow diagram in Fig. 1. A data extraction form was developed and piloted to ensure its usefulness before data extraction commenced, which was equally conducted by two reviewers. Disagreements were resolved through consensus or discussion with a third-party.

Risk of Bias was assessed using the Revised Cochrane Risk-Of-Bias tool for randomized trials (ROB 2) [33] for RCTs and Risk Of Bias In Non-randomized Studies-of Interventions (ROBINS-I) [34] for observational studies.

Results were pooled using Risk Ratios (RR) for RCTs and Odds Ratios (OR) for observational studies with corresponding 95 % confidence interval (CI) calculated using the random-effects model, developed by DerSimonian and Laird in 1986 [35]. Heterogeneity was assessed utilizing Q and I-square statistics. The analysis was performed using R [36] with the packages meta [37] and metafor [38].

Subgroup analysis was conducted to explore differences in effect size between and across different groups. These include [1],

indication for MET [2], period of exposure [3], dose [4], duration [5], route of administration and [6] study design. Sensitivity analysis was done to ascertain the robustness of our results, first by excluding studies with the critical risk of bias from the analysis and secondly, excluding studies whose overall effect was not adjusted.

#### 3. Results

Twenty four studies published between 1965 and 2019 were selected for analysis i.e. 17 observational studies (5 case-control and 12 cohort studies) and 7 RCTs (Fig. 1). The total number of participants was 800,195 included at any time during pregnancy with 5044 MET-exposed cases and 158,060 unexposed cases. The systemic route of administration was cited in 13 studies and the local route in 2 studies. Whereas dose and duration were not mentioned in 10 studies, the administered doses under systemic administration were 250 mg (5 studies), 400 mg (3 studies), 200 mg (2 studies) and 2 g (2 studies) for 7 days (6 studies), 3 days (2 studies) or 2 days (2 studies). Indication of bacterial



Fig. 1. PRISMA Flow diagram.

European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Reproductive Biology: X 11 (2021) 100128

vaginosis/trichomoniasis was reported in 15 studies while others did not consider a specific indication as a criterion for participant inclusion. All RCTs used placebo in the control group while observational studies consisted of unexposed sick patients (2 studies), unexposed disease-free (8 studies), unexposed but not otherwise specified (5 studies) and exposed to other treatment (2 studies). Thirteen studies reported exposure in at least the first trimester while 9 reported exposure to MET outside the firsttrimester (Table 1).

#### 3.1. Risk of bias assessment

Four observational studies had a "critical" level of bias arising from bias in reporting, assessment of exposure and non-adjustment of confounding factors. Only one RCTs evaluated with ROB2 assessment had "some concerns" due to the selection of the reported result. A summary of ROB2 or ROBINS-I assessment is provided in Appendix B.

## 3.2. Preterm birth and associated delivery outcomes following MET exposure in utero

Fig. 2A presents results for the efficacy of MET in reducing the risk of preterm birth among pregnant women. The overall RR was 1.10 (95 % CI 0.78–1.55; n = 7; I<sup>2</sup> = 72 %). Subgroup analysis showed significant results for dose  $\leq$ 250 mg (RR 0.41; 95 % CI 0.20–0.85; n = 1) and third-trimester exposure (RR 1.59; 95 % CI 1.05–2.41; n = 1). No significant effect on preterm birth was found after

#### Table 1

Characteristics of studies by study design, dose, duration, route of administration, indication and studied outcomes.

Ref.	Year	Study design	n	Dose (mg)	Duration (d)	Administration	Exposure (trimester)	Indication	Outcomes
[39]	Carey et al 2000	RCT	1953	2000	48 h apart	Systemic	2	Bacterial vaginosis	Preterm birth, low birth weight
[17]	Czeizel et al	Case-	47,963	2000 or	7	Systemic and	1,3	Infectious disease of the respiratory system,	Malformations
[40]	Diav-Citrin et al 2001	Prospect. Cohort	765	973 (483)	7.9 (3.8)	Systemic and local	1	Helicobacter pylori, genital or urinary tract infection, giardiasis, trichomoniasis, amehiasis, and pelvic inflammatory disease.	Malformations and spontaneous abortion
[10]	Goldenberg et al 2001	RCT	89	2000	48 h apart	Systemic	2	Bacterial vaginosis or trichomonas vaginalis	Preterm birth
[41]	Heinonen et al 1977	Prospect. Cohort	50,282	-	-	Systemic	1	-	Malformations
[25]	Morgan et al 1978	Retrospec. Cohort	880	200	7 or 10	Systemic	-	Trichomoniasis	Stillbirth
[42]	Kazy et al 2004	Case- control	60,994	100	10	Local	-	Vulvovaginal candidosis or trichomoniasis	Preterm birth, low birth weight
[22]	Kazy et al 2005	Case- control	38,151	500	10	Local	1,2,3	Genitourinary tract infections	Malformations
[8]	Klebanoff et al 2001	RCT	617	2000	48 h apart	Systemic	2	Trichomonas vaginalis	Preterm birth, low birth weight
[24]	Koss et al 2012	Retrosp. Cohort	2829	250-500	7	Systemic	1	Bacterial vaginosis and trichomoniasis	Preterm birth, low birth weight, malformations
[43]	Zagorodnikova et al 2017	Retrospec. Cohort	901	-	-	-	1,2,3	Genitourinary tract infections	Malformations, spontaneous
[44]	Leong et al 2019	Retrospec. Cohort	246,817	-	-	-	-	-	Spontaneous
[45]	Mann et al	Retrospe.	3579	-	-	Systemic	3	Trichomoniasis	Preterm birth
[5]	McDonald et al	RCT	857	400	2	Systemic	2	Gardnerella vaginalis	Preterm birth
[12]	Morales et al 1994	RCT	80	250	7	Systemic	2	Bacterial vaginosis	Preterm birth, spontaneous abortion, low birth weight
[18]	Muanda et al (a) 2017	Prospect. Cohort	124,881	-	-	-	1	Urinary or respiratory tract infections	Malformations
[19]	Muanda et al (b) 2017	Nested Case-	95,722	-	-	-	1	Urinary or respiratory tract infections	Spontaneous abortion
[11]	Odendaal et al 2002	RCT	269	400	2	Systemic	2	Bacterial vaginosis	Preterm birth
[26]	Piper et al 1993	Retrospec. Cohort	2774	-	-	-	1	Unspecified indication	Malformations
[46]	Rosa et al 1987	Retrospec. Cohort	104,339	-	-	Systemic	1	Vaginitis	Spontaneous abortions,
[47]	Scott-Gray et al	Prospec.	183	200	7	Systemic	1 and 3	Trichomoniasis	Malformations
[9]	Shennan et al	RCT	99	400	7	Systemic	2,3	Bacterial vaginosis	Preterm birth, low
[48]	Sorensen et al	Retrospec. Cohort	13,451	-	-	-	1,2,3	-	Malformations,
[23]	Werler et al 2014	Case- Control	2683	-	-	-	1	-	Malformations



в

Fig. 2. Delivery outcomes after maternal metronidazole exposure.

subgroup analyses for the route of administration, treatment duration, effect estimates and the type of control group (Supplementary Fig. A1).

Conversely, 5 observational studies [24,40,42,45,48] evaluated the safety of MET exposure (OR 0.96; 95% CI 0.80- 1.16;  $I^2 = 39\%$ , Fig. 2B). Subgroup analysis showed significant results for third trimester exposure (OR 0.81; 95 % CI 0.66–0.98; n = 1) but not for study design, dose, route of administration, treatment duration, effect estimates and the type of control group (Supplementary Fig. A2).

#### 3.3. Preterm birth among women with a history of preterm birth

We identified 4 RCTs [8,11,12,39] evaluating the use of MET in an attempt to reduce the risk of preterm birth among women with a preceding preterm birth (128 cases and 342 controls) (Fig. 2A). The control groups consisted of unexposed sick women with a history of preterm birth. Global results were not statistically significant however, an increased effect was found for the treatment duration of <3 days and dose of 400 mg-2g

Subgroups	studie	es Cases/Total C	Control events/Tota	l.				OR	95% CI	l²(%)
					1					
Overall	5	3598/10770	81427/393482		<b>  </b>			1.72	(1.40-2.12)	72
Route of administration										
Systemic	1	135/1155	4129/58845		H			1.75 (	1.46- 2.10)	NA
Indication										
Vulvo vaginal condition	2	153/1374	4141/59527		<b>⊢</b>		— I	2.77 (	1.00- 7.69)	86
Period of exposure										
Trimester 1	2	188/1499	12778/154223		H-I			1.77 (	1.52- 2.07)	0
Trimester 2	1	9/44	7/36	-				1.07	(0.35-3.21) n	ot applicable
Duration of treatment										
7 -10 days	1	9/44	7/36	$\vdash$				1.05 (	0.43- 2.55) n	ot applicable
Effect estimates										
Adjusted	2	71/563	8661/96060		<b>├──</b> -		—	2.84 (	1.07-7.58)	83
Crude	3	3527/10207	72766/297422		H			1.56 (	1.38- 1.78)	42
Control group										
Unexposed not specified	4	3545/10426	72778/298104		F=-1			1.71 (	1.32- 2.21)	77
Unexposed disease free	1	53/344	8649/95378		┠╼╌┥			1.83 (	1.36- 2.45) n	ot applicable
ROB										
Excluding critical ROB	3	204/1703	12822/154831		H=I			1.7 (	1.42- 2.04)	19
								Γ		
				0	1 2 3	4_5	6 7	8		
			<un< td=""><td>expos</td><td>sed/Placebo-</td><td><ul> <li>Expose</li> </ul></td><td>ed to Metro</td><td>nidazol</td><td>e&gt;</td><td></td></un<>	expos	sed/Placebo-	<ul> <li>Expose</li> </ul>	ed to Metro	nidazol	e>	

Fig. 3. Subgroup analysis of spontaneous abortion after maternal metronidazole exposure.

(RR 1.67; 95 % CI 1.07–2.62; n=3;  $I^2$ =32 %) compared to a duration of 7 days and dose  $\leq$ 250 mg (RR 0.26; 95 % CI 0.10–0.63; n=1), Supplementary Fig. A3.

Regarding the safety of MET, only 1 study [24] was identified. Women with a history of preterm birth exposed to MET were 2.94 times more likely to have a preterm birth compared to their unexposed counterparts (Fig. 2B).

#### 3.4. Spontaneous abortions

One RCT [12] documented spontaneous abortion as an outcome when MET was used in an attempt to reduce the risk of preterm birth (Fig. 2A).

Five observational studies [19,40,43,44,46] evaluated the association of spontaneous abortion and MET exposure (Fig. 2B). Subgroup analysis showed a statistically significant effect for women exposed in the first trimester (Fig. 3). The results of sensitivity analysis remained similar to the original result after the exclusion of two studies with a "critical" risk of bias (OR 1.7; 95 % CI 1.42–2.04; n = 3;  $I^2 = 19$  %).

#### 3.5. Stillbirths

Only 1 RCT [8] documented stillbirth as an outcome when MET was used in an attempt to reduce the risk of preterm birth (Fig. 2A). Regarding safety, we included 2108 exposed and 2202 unexposed pregnant women from 3 observational studies [25,26,40]. No statistically significant association was found between stillbirth and MET exposure at any point during pregnancy (Fig. 2B). Subgroup analysis was not conducted due to the limited number of studies.

We included 4 RCTs [8,9,12,39] documenting low birth weight as an outcome when MET was used to reduce the incidence of preterm birth. No statistically significant association was found between low birth weight and MET exposure during pregnancy, even after subgroup analysis. (Supplementary Fig. A4).

Based on three observational studies [24,25,42] (2532 cases and 38,460 controls), no statistically significant association was found between low birth weight and MET exposure during pregnancy (Fig. 2B). Subgroup analysis was not conducted due to the limited number of studies.

#### 3.7. Caesarian delivery

3.6. Low birth weight

Based on two RCTs [8,9], 195 pregnant patients were included in the analysis. The risk of caesarian delivery was not significantly decreased after exposure to MET at any point during pregnancy (Fig. 2A).

#### 3.8. Major congenital malformations

Twelve (10 cohort, 2 case-control) studies [17,22– 24,40,41,25,43,26,46–48,18] were included in the analysis. Out of 411,380 pregnant women, 57,718 were cases in which 440 were exposed at least in the first-trimester (OR 1.15: 95 % CI 0.98–1.34;  $I^2$ = 25 %, Fig. 4). The odds of major malformations were increased for case-control studies (OR 1.32; 95 % CI 1.02–1.70; n = 3,  $I^2$  = 35 %) but not with studies with a higher level of evidence (prospective and retrospective cohort studies). No difference was found between the systemic and local route of administration. After the exclusion

Subgroups	Studies	s Cases/Total (	Control events/Tot	al	OR	95% CI	l²(%)
Overall	12	440/10429	57278/400951	<b>⊢-</b> I	1.15 (	0.98- 1.34)	25
Study Design							
Prospective cohort	4	52/651	15481/175399	F <b>⊢</b> ∎−−−1	1.25 (	0.77-2.01)	18
Retrospective cohort	5	175/8642	1853/115078	<b>H</b>	1 (	0.83- 1.20)	0
Case-control studies	3	213/1136	39944/110474	<b>⊢</b> •-1	1.32 (	1.02- 1.70)	35
Route of administration							
Systemic	4	205/7313	18226/147397	F <del>•</del> −1	1.05 (	0.77- 1.43)	52
Local	1	70/168	22773/60826	<mark>⊬≖</mark> ⊸1	1.19 (	0.88- 1.62) no	t applicable
Indication							
Vulvo vaginal condition	6	191/7790	36082/285763	H=1	1.04 (	0.88- 1.22)	0
Period of exposure							
Trimester 1	12	440/10429	57278/400951	H	1.12 (	1.00- 1.25)	19
Duration of treatment							
7 -10 days	2	70/247	22777/60930		0.68 (	0.11- 4.35)	51
Effect estimates							
Adjusted	9	374/3657	56246/302497	<b>H</b> -1	1.22 (	1.05- 1.40)	7
Crude	3	66/6772	1032/98454		0.94 (	0.55- 1.61)	16
Dose							
Less than or equal to 250mg	1	0/79	4/104	<b> </b> 1	0.14 (	0.01- 2.65) no	t applicable
400/500mg	1	70/168	22773/60826	<mark>⊦</mark> 1	1.19 (	0.88- 1.62) no	t applicable
Control group							
Unexposed not specified	8	246/8701	27844/224927	H <mark>=</mark> -1	1.08 (	0.88- 1.32)	20
Unexposed disease free	4	194/1728	29434/176024	<b>⊢</b> 1	1.25 (	0.98- 1.61)	30
ROB							
Excluding critical ROB	9	440/10429	57278/400951	<b>⊩</b> 1	1.13 (	0.93- 1.36)	28
				0 0.5 1 1.5 2 2.5 3 3.5 4 4	.5		

<---Unexposed/Placebo- -Exposed to Metronidazole--->

Fig. 4. Major malformations and subgroup analysis after maternal metronidazole exposure.

of 3 studies with a "critical" level of bias, the results remained similar to the original result. Further sensitivity analysis based on adjusted effect estimates (after excluding 3 studies with crude effect estimates showed an increased result of 1.22 (95 % CI 1.05–1.40; n = 9;  $I^2 = 7\%$ ).

#### 3.9. Specific malformations

Results of specific malformations were grouped for visualization purposes. Among 10 types of malformations, only the odds of congenital hydrocephaly were significantly increased (OR 4.06, 95 %CI 1.75–9.42, n = 2;  $l^2 = 0$  %) after first-trimester exposure to MET (Fig. 5).

#### 4. Discussion

This systematic review and meta-analysis of 24 studies on MET exposure during pregnancy including 163,104 cases and 637,091 controls did not confirm the efficacy of MET in reducing the risk of preterm birth. Regarding other adverse pregnancy outcomes, a significant effect was observed between spontaneous abortion and MET exposure.

#### 4.1. Preterm birth and associated delivery outcomes

No relationship was found between MET treatment during pregnancy and preterm birth, stillbirth, low birth weight and caesarian delivery. There are conflicting views on the use of MET in averting or increasing the risk of preterm birth and associated outcomes [13,49–51]. Recent guidelines for clinical practise and reviews stated insufficiency of data on the efficacy of MET to recommend its use (or non-use) [6,50]. Based on the analysis, we cannot confirm the efficacy of MET in reducing the risk of preterm birth.

Contrary to previous studies [11,24], the overall risk of preterm birth was not significantly decreased among women with previous preterm birth. Subgroup analysis suggested pregnant women who were administered MET for  $\leq 3$  days may have an increased risk of preterm birth. The recommended guidelines for the treatment of trichmoniasis and or bacterial vaginosis among pregnant women include the single dose of 2 g or 400 mg–500 mg for up to 7 days [52,7,53]. In our meta-analysis, the duration of treatment of <3 days is related to two doses of 2 g administered 48 h apart (Klebanhoff et al., Carey et al.) [8,39] and 400 mg for 2 days (Odendaal et al.) [11]. Further studies are required to assess the hypothesis that a high dose for a short duration may increase the risk of preterm birth among women with a previous preterm birth, compared to a lower dose for a longer duration. In observational studies, pregnant women with preterm birth in the preceding pregnancy had a higher likelihood of preterm birth compared to their unexposed counterparts. Unfortunately, the results are based on one study.

Whereas pregnant women infected with T.vaginalis are more likely to have a stillbirth [54], the literature does not confirm the impact of MET treatment on perinatal mortality [55]. Our study did not confirm the beneficial effect of MET on stillbirth (OR 0.42; 95 % CI 0.17–1.03; n = 3;  $l^2 = 0$ %).

MET exposure was associated with an increased risk of spontaneous abortion. The results from sensitivity analysis remained similar to the original result with a decreased level of heterogeneity ( $I^2 = 19$  %). Findings from recent studies show a relationship between bacterial vaginosis and miscarriage in the first [56] and second trimester [57]. Because the analysis was based on observational studies, our results regarding spontaneous abortion may be subject to indication or protopathic bias.

#### 4.2. Major congenital malformations

Our meta-analysis revealed no statistically significant association between major malformations and MET exposure during the first trimester of pregnancy. This is consistent with the metaanalyses conducted by Caro-Paton et al. [21] and Burtin [20] et al. Despite the increased odds after analyzing only adjusted effect estimates, we are unable to conclude on the risk of major malformations due to the quality of some studies included in the analysis, even after adjusting for confounding factors. Moreover, when studies with the critical risk of bias are excluded, the risk remains similar to the original result. Regarding specific malformations, MET exposure in the first trimester was associated with congenital hydrocephaly. The results are based on two case-control studies conducted by Kazy et al. [22] (70 cases exposed to vaginal MET treatment during the first trimester) and Czeizel et al. [17] (136 cases exposed to oral MET during the first trimester) who both used the same data source with malformed cases identified from the Hungarian Congenital Abnormality Registry, matched to controls and were subject to recall bias regarding drug exposure. The possible risk of overlap between the two studies should be noted.

#### 4.3. Strengths and limitations

This is the first meta-analysis to highlight both the safety and efficacy of MET during pregnancy. Moreover, the robustness of our results was proved using sensitivity analyses that produced

Outcomes	No(studies)	Exposed events/Total	Control events/Tot	al Odds Ratio	OR	95%-CI	l²(%)			
Major malformations (as a whole	)			L						
Major malformations (observational studies)	12	440/10429	57278/400951	T	1.15	[0.98; 1.34]	25			
Specific Malformations (observat	tional studies	5)								
Congenital heart defects	4	733/3079	69919/233503	-+-	0.94	[0.66; 1.34]	0			
Congenital hydrocephaly	2	524/1280	39619/107647		4.06	[1.75; 9.42]	0			
Digestive system	4	733/3079	69919/233503		1.32	[0.67; 2.60]	0			
Genital organs system	4	733/3080	69919/233504		1.06	[0.68; 1.64]	23			
Limb deficiencies	3	529/1926	39626/109684		1.45	[0.59; 3.56]	0			
Musculoskeletal system	2	209/1799	30300/125856	-+-	0.99	[0.70; 1.40]	0			
Neural tube effects	3	620/2667	39699/109034		0.66	[0.37; 1.18]	36			
Orofacial clefts	2	524/1280	39619/107647		1.77	[0.97; 3.23]	0			
Respiratory system	2	209/1799	30300/125856	<b>_</b>	1.06	[0.31; 3.62]	0			
Urinary system	2	501/1370	52675/184505	<b></b>	1.46	[0.66; 3.23]	0			
					1					
				0.05 0.5 1 2 10 2	20					
			Unex	xposed/placebo Exposed to r	metronic	lazole				
	Estimated Effect Size									

Fig. 5. Specific major malformations after maternal metronidazole exposure.

findings similar to the original analyses. Compared to two previous meta-analyses of 1995 [20] (7 studies) and 1997 [21] (5 studies) on malformations, our meta-analysis is an update of 12 studies with 411,380 participants. Furthermore, this is the first meta-analysis to consider the assessment of risks related to MET exposure in light of the dose, duration, route of administration, indication and the period of exposure of the treatment. Lastly, the symmetric funnel plot (Supplementary Fig. A5) does not suggest the presence of publication bias.

However, our analysis was dependent on the precision of authors regarding the dose, duration, route of administration, indication, the period of exposure of the treatment and the definition of outcomes such as stillbirth. This was not always the case. Finally, most of the observational studies included in our analysis use the prescription of MET as a proxy for exposure, which may bias the results.

#### 4.4. Conclusion

In conclusion, data do not confirm the efficacy of MET in reducing the risk of preterm birth and associated delivery outcomes. Further research is required to confirm the effect of high dose and short duration of metronidazole treatment on preterm birth among the high-risk group. Regarding the increased odds of spontaneous abortion, RCTs are required to assess the role of the underlying infection. The need for further studies to confirm the risk of congenital hydrocephaly is paramount.

#### **Financial disclosures**

None of the authors received funding for this review.

#### **Declaration of Competing Interest**

The authors report no declarations of interest.

#### Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary material related to this article can be found, in the online version, at doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurox.2021.100128.

#### References

- Wang X, Nanovskaya TN, Zhan Y, Abdel-Rahman SM, Jasek M, Hankins GDV, et al. Pharmacokinetics of metronidazole in pregnant patients with bacterial vaginosis. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2011;24(March (3)):444–8.
- [2] Freyer AM. Drugs in pregnancy and lactation 8th edition: a reference guide to fetal and neonatal risk. Obstet Med 2009;2(June (2)):89.
- [3] Desseauve D, Chantrel J, Fruchart A, Khoshnood B, Brabant G, Ancel PY, et al. Prevalence and risk factors of bacterial vaginosis during the first trimester of pregnancy in a large French population-based study. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2012;163(July (1)):30–4.
- [4] Koumans EH, Sternberg M, Bruce C, McQuillan G, Kendrick J, Sutton M, et al. The prevalence of bacterial vaginosis in the United States, 2001–2004; Associations with symptoms, sexual behaviors, and reproductive health. Sex Transm Dis 2007;34(November (11)):864.
- [5] McDonald HM, O'Loughlin JA, Vigneswaran R, Jolley PT, Harvey JA, Bof A, et al. Impact of metronidazole therapy on preterm birth in women with bacterial vaginosis flora (Gardnerella vaginalis): a randomised, placebo controlled trial. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1997;104(December (12)):1391–7.
- [6] Schmitz T, Sentilhes L, Lorthe E, Gallot D, Madar H, Doret-Dion M, et al. Preterm premature rupture of the membranes: guidelines for clinical practice from the French College of Gynaecologists and Obstetricians (CNGOF). Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2019;236(May):1–6.
- [7] Sherrard J, Donders G, White D, Jensen JS. European (IUSTI/WHO) guideline on the management of vaginal discharge, 2011. Int J STD AIDS 2011;22(August (8)):421–9.
- [8] Klébanoff MA, Carey JC, Hauth JC, Hillier SL, Nugent RP, Thom EA, et al. Failure of metronidazole to prevent preterm delivery among pregnant women with asymptomatic trichomonas vaginalis infection. N Engl J Med 2001;345(August (7)):487–93.
- [9] Shennan A, Crawshaw S, Briley A, Hawken J, Seed P, Jones G, et al. A randomised controlled trial of metronidazole for the prevention of preterm birth in women

positive for cervicovaginal fetal fibronectin: the PREMET Study. BJOG 2006;113 (January (1)):65–74.

- [10] Goldenberg RL, Klebanoff M, Carey JC, Macpherson C. Metronidazole treatment of women with a positive fetal fibronectin test result. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2001;185(August (2)):485–6.
- [11] Odendaal HJ, Popov I, Schoeman J, Smith M, Grové D. Preterm labour-is bacterial vaginosis involved? S Afr Med J 2002;92(March (3)):231-4.
- [12] Morales WJ, Schorr S, Albritton J. Effect of metronidazole in patients with preterm birth in preceding pregnancy and bacterial vaginosis: a placebocontrolled, double-blind study. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1994;171(August (2)) 345–7 discussion 348-349.
- [13] Morency A-M, Bujold E. The effect of second-trimester antibiotic therapy on the rate of preterm birth. J Obstet Gynaecol Can 2007;29(January (1)):35–44.
- [14] Carr-Hill RA, Hall MH. The repetition of spontaneous preterm labour. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1985;92(September (9)):921–8.
- [16] Mercer BM, Macpherson CA, Goldenberg RL, Goepfert AR, Hauguel-de Mouzon S, Haugel-De Mouzon S, et al. Are women with recurrent spontaneous preterm births different from those without such history? Am J Obstet Gynecol 2006;194(April (4))1176–84 discussion 1184-1185.
- [17] Czeizel AE, Rockenbauer M. A population based case-control teratologic study of oral metronidazole treatment during pregnancy. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1998;105(March (3)):322–7.
- [18] Muanda FT, Sheehy O, Bérard A. Use of antibiotics during pregnancy and the risk of major congenital malformations: a population based cohort study. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2017;83(November (11)):2557–71.
- [19] Muanda FT, Sheehy O, Bérard A. Use of antibiotics during pregnancy and risk of spontaneous abortion. CMAJ 2017;189(May (17)):E625-33.
- [20] Burtin P, Taddio A, Ariburnu O, Einarson TR, Koren G. Safety of metronidazole in pregnancy: a meta-analysis. Am J Obstetrics Gynecol 1995;172(February (2, Part 1)):525–9.
- [21] Caro-Patón T, Carvajal A, Martín de Diego I, Martín-Arias LH, Alvarez Requejo A, Pinilla ER. Is metronidazole teratogenic? A meta-analysis. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1997;44(August (2)):179–82.
- [22] Kazy Z, Puhó E, Czeizel AE. Teratogenic potential of vaginal metronidazole treatment during pregnancy. Eur J Obstetrics Gynecol Reprod Biol 2005;123 (December (2)):174–8.
- [23] Werler MM, Yazdy MM, Kasser JR, Mahan ST, Meyer RE, Anderka M, et al. Medication use in pregnancy in relation to the risk of isolated clubfoot in offspring. Am | Epidemiol 2014;180(July (1)):86–93.
- [24] Koss CA, Baras DC, Lane SD, Aubry R, Marcus M, Markowitz LE, et al. Investigation of metronidazole use during pregnancy and adverse birth outcomes. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2012;56(September (9)):4800–5.
- [25] Morgan I. Metronidazole treatment in pregnancy. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 1978;15(6):501-2.
- [26] Piper JM, Mitchel EF, Ray WA. Prenatal use of metronidazole and birth defects: no association. Obstet Gynecol 1993;82(September (3)):348-52.
- [27] Murphy PA, Jones E. Use of oral metronidazole in pregnancy. Risks, benefits, and practice guidelines. J Nurse Midwifery 1994;39(August (4)):214-20.
- [28] Lugo-Miro VI, Green M, Mazur L. Comparison of different metronidazole therapeutic regimens for bacterial vaginosis. A meta-analysis. JAMA 1992;268 (July (1)):92–5.
- [29] Mitchell CM, Hitti JE, Agnew KJ, Fredricks DN. Comparison of oral and vaginal metronidazole for treatment of bacterial vaginosis in pregnancy: impact on fastidious bacteria. BMC Infect Dis 2009;9(June):89.
- [30] DeSilva M, Munoz FM, Mcmillan M, Kawai AT, Marshall H, Macartney KK, et al. Congenital anomalies: case definition and guidelines for data collection, analysis, and presentation of immunization safety data. Vaccine 2016;34 (December (49)):6015–26.
- [31] European Platform on Rare Disease Registration [Internet]. [cited 2020 Nov 27]. Available from: https://eu-rd-platform.jrc.ec.europa.eu.
- [32] Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gøtzsche PC, Ioannidis JPA, et al. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate healthcare interventions: explanation and elaboration. BMJ 2009;339(July):b2700.
- [33] RoB 2: A revised Cochrane risk-of-bias tool for randomized trials [Internet]. [cited 2020 Mar 20]. Available from: https://www.google.com/search?q=% 2Fbias%2Fresources%2Frob-2-revised-cochrane-risk-bias-tool-randomizedtrials&ie=utf-8&oe=utf-8
- [34] ROBINS-I tool [Internet]. [cited 2020 Mar 20]. Available from: https://www. google.com/search?q=%2Fmethods-cochrane%2Frobins-i-tool&ie=utf-8&oe=utf-8.
- [35] DerSimonian R, Laird N. Meta-analysis in clinical trials. Controlled Clin Trials 1986;7(September (3)):177–88.
- [36] R: The R Project for Statistical Computing [Internet]. [cited 2020 Mar 30]. Available from: https://www.r-project.org/.
- [37] Balduzzi S, Rücker G, Schwarzer G. How to perform a meta-analysis with R: a practical tutorial. Evid Based Ment Health 2019;22(November (4)):153–60.
- [38] Viechtbauer W. Conducting meta-analyses in R with the metafor package. J Stat Software 2010;36(August (1)):1–48.
- [39] Carey JC, Klebanoff MA, Hauth JC, Hillier SL, Thom EA, Ernest JM, et al. Metronidazole to prevent preterm delivery in pregnant women with asymptomatic bacterial vaginosis. National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Network of Maternal-Fetal Medicine Units. N Engl J Med 2000;342(February (8)):534–40.

- [40] Diav-Citrin O, Shechtman S, Gotteiner T, Arnon J, Ornoy A. Pregnancy outcome after gestational exposure to metronidazole: a prospective controlled cohort study. Teratology 2001;63(May (5)):186–92.
- [41] Heinonen OP, Slone D, Shapiro S. Birth defects and drugs in pregnancy. Birth defects and drugs in pregnancy [Internet]. [cited 2020 Mar 24]; Available from:. 1977. https://www.cabdirect.org/cabdirect/abstract/19782703483.
- [42] Kazy Z, Puhó E, Czeizel AE. Gestational age and prevalence of preterm birth after vaginal metronidazole treatment during pregnancy. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2004;87(November (2)):161–2.
- [43] Zagorodnikova K, Kao K, Johnson D, Jones KL, Chambers C. Prenatal metronidazole use and adverse pregnancy outcomes in a disease-controlled population. Reprod Toxicol 2017;72(September):220–1.
- [44] Leong C, Chateau D, Dahl M, Falk J, Katz A, Bugden S, et al. Prescription medication use during pregnancies that resulted in births and abortions (2001-2013): a retrospective population-based study in a Canadian population. PLoS One 2019;14(3)e0211319.
- [45] Mann JR, McDermott S, Zhou L, Barnes TL, Hardin J. Treatment of trichomoniasis in pregnancy and preterm birth: an observational study. J Womens Health (Larchmt) 2009;18(April (4)):493-7.
- [46] Rosa FW, Baum C, Shaw M. Pregnancy outcomes after first-trimester vaginitis drug therapy. Obstet Gynecol 1987;69(May (5)):751–5.
- [47] Scott-Gray M. Metronidazole in obstetric practice. BJOG 1964;71(1):82-5.
- [48] Sørensen HT, Larsen H, Jensen ES, Thulstrup AM, Schønheyder HC, Nielsen GL, et al. Safety of metronidazole during pregnancy: a cohort study of risk of congenital abnormalities, preterm delivery and low birth weight in 124 women. J Antimicrob Chemother 1999;44(December (6)):854–6.
- [49] Leitich H, Bodner-Adler B, Brunbauer M, Kaider A, Egarter C, Husslein P. Bacterial vaginosis as a risk factor for preterm delivery: a meta-analysis. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2003;189(July (1)):139–47.

- [50] Okun N, Gronau KA, Hannah ME. Antibiotics for bacterial vaginosis or trichomonas vaginalis in pregnancy: a systematic review. Obstet Gynecol 2005;105(April (4)):857–68.
- [51] Sheehy O, Santos F, Bérard EF. a. The use of metronidazole during pregnancy: a review of evidence [internet]. Current Drug Safety 2015. . [cited 2019 Jul 17]. Available from: http://www.eurekaselect.com/131334/article.
- [52] Trichomoniasis 2015 STD treatment guidelines [internet]. 2020. [cited 2021 Jan 27]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/std/tg2015/trichomoniasis.htm.
- [53] WHO | Trichomoniasis and Bacterial Vaginosis in Pregnancy: Inadequately Managed with the Syndromic Approach [Internet]. WHO. World Health Organization; [cited 2021 Jan 27]. Available from: https://www.who.int/ bulletin/volumes/85/4/06-031922/en/.
- [54] Cotch MF, Pastorek JGI, Nugent RP, Hillier SL, Gibbs RS, Martin DH, et al. Trichomonas vaginalis associated with low birth weight and preterm delivery. Sex Transm Dis 1997;24(July (6)):353–60.
- [55] Menezes EV, Yakoob MY, Soomro T, Haws RA, Darmstadt GL, Bhutta ZA. Reducing stillbirths: prevention and management of medical disorders and infections during pregnancy. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2009;9(May Suppl. 1):S4.
- [56] Ralph SG, Rutherford AJ, Wilson JD. Influence of bacterial vaginosis on conception and miscarriage in the first trimester: cohort study. BMJ 1999;319 (July (7204)):220–3.
- [57] Donders GG, Van Bulck B, Caudron J, Londers L, Vereecken A, Spitz B. Relationship of bacterial vaginosis and mycoplasmas to the risk of spontaneous abortion. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2000;183(August (2)):431–7.